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 I. INTRODUCTION 

The Cheyenne River Sioux Tribe’s Response, ECF No. 208, failed to establish that the 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers acted arbitrarily or capriciously, or violated any law, treaty, or 

trust obligation when it granted Dakota Access, LLC permission under the Rivers and Harbors 

Act, 33 U.S.C. § 408 (“Section 408”), and an easement under the Mineral Leasing Act (“MLA”), 

30 U.S.C. § 185, to construct a portion of a pipeline beneath Lake Oahe.  The Corps’ detailed 

analysis of the potential impacts associated with the construction of a portion of the pipeline by 

horizontal directional drilling (“HDD”) under Lake Oahe, including a risk analysis in the 

unlikely event of operational failure at the crossing, fully supports its Section 408 permission and 

is entitled to deference.  Cheyenne River alleges that in granting the Section 408 permission and 

easement the Corps breached a trust obligation, but has failed either to identify a substantive law 

that creates a trust duty, or to demonstrate a breach.  Similarly, Cheyenne River alleges that the 

Corps did not comply with an unspecified “duty to consult.”  But the only substantive duty to 

consult arises under the National Historic Preservation Act, with which the Corps complied.   

Finally, the Corps’ easement decision fully complied with the MLA and the Administrative 

Procedure Act.  Thus, the Corps is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

II. ARGUMENT1 

A. The Section 408 Permission Complied with Law 

The Corps’ conclusion that the pipeline crossing under Lake Oahe would neither “impair 

the usefulness” of the Oahe project, nor “be injurious to the public interest,” was reasonable and 

                                                 

1 The Corps objects to Cheyenne River’s citation to documents dated after July 25, 2016 for 
purposes of the Court’s review of the Section 408 permission (and any other July 25, 2016 
authorizations relating to the Dakota Access pipeline).  See U.S. Opp’n to Cheyenne River Sioux 
Tribe’s Mot. for Partial Summ. J., ECF No. 183 at 15 (“[A]ny documents post-dating the July 25, 
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 consistent with Section 408 and Corps guidance.  Cheyenne River’s arguments to the contrary 

are simply not supported by the administrative record.2 

 The Corps Properly Evaluated the Risk and Impact of a Spill 
in the Unlikely Event of Operational Failure at the Lake Oahe 
Crossing 

Cheyenne River argues that the Corps “did not properly consider the risk and impact of 

an oil spill” because the Corps “relied exclusively on the EA . . . .”  ECF No. 208 at 10; see also 

id. at 16, 19 (raising similar argument in context of project usefulness and public interest prongs 

of Section 408 analysis, respectively).  In support of its argument, the Tribe points to language in 

the EA concluding that a “worst case scenario” spill at Lake Oahe would be a “high 

consequence” event.  Id. at 10 (citing EA, ECF No. 172-1 at 71316, 71318).  But the Corps did 

not reach that conclusion and simply end its inquiry; the same section of the EA referenced by 

the Tribe (3.11 Reliability and Safety) addresses why the risks of experiencing a high 

consequence event were low and how the impacts of any oil spill at the Lake Oahe crossing 

                                                 

2016 decision are not appropriately part of the administrative record for the Section 408 
determination. (emphasis added)). Contrary to Cheyenne River’s statement, ECF No. 208 at 9, 
however, the Corps does not contend that the administrative record for the February 8, 2017 
easement decision closed on July 25, 2016, and thus does not object to the use of record 
documents dated after July 25, 2016 for purposes of review of that decision.  Additionally, the 
Corps objects to Cheyenne River’s citation to extra-record information, regardless of the 
document date and decision under review.  Id. at 13, 15 n.8.  Finally, Cheyenne River’s criticism 
of the timeliness of the Corps’ production of the easement record, ECF No. 208 at 9, is without 
merit, because the Court has not yet granted the Tribes’ motions to amend their complaints to 
include claims relating to the easement. 
2 In addition to its record-based arguments, Cheyenne River also argues that the Corps should not 
have granted permission under Section 408 without having first conducted an environmental 
impact statement.  See, e.g., ECF No. 208 at 10.  This amounts to a challenge to the sufficiency 
of the Corps’ compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act, a claim not raised in 
Cheyenne River’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.  Regardless, this argument fails for the 
reasons explained in Section IV.A. of the Corps’ Opposition to Standing Rock Sioux Tribe’s 
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Cross Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.  See 
ECF No. 172 at 10-33. 
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 would be mitigated.  Thus, the very passages of the EA to which the Tribe points contradict the 

argument that the Corps “failed to consider” the risks or impacts of an oil spill at the Lake Oahe 

crossing.   

Section 3.11 of the EA first explains that the pipeline would be maintained in accordance 

with regulations issued by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration 

(“PHMSA”), the agency responsible for ensuring the safety of oil pipelines, as well as standards 

developed by the American Society of Mechanical Engineers, National Association for 

Corrosion Engineers, and American Petroleum Industry.  EA § 3.11, ECF No. 172-1 at 71312.  

The EA then calculates the worst case discharge scenario in accordance with 49 C.F.R. § 

194.105, which includes numerous conservative assumptions.  Id. at 71315.  For example, the 

worst case scenario presumes rupture of a pipeline crossing over Lake Oahe as opposed to the 

planned HDD crossing of the pipeline more than ninety feet below the bottom of the Lake.  Id.  

Next, the EA analyzes nine different industry-recognized pipeline integrity threat factors that 

could result in an oil release to Lake Oahe and explains why the risk of those scenarios is low.  

Id. at 71316-18.   

After concluding that the risk of an oil spill would be low, Section 3.11 of the EA 

discusses numerous measures that would mitigate against impacts from a release.  Id. at 71315-

16.  As summarized in the EA, 

the pipeline will continuously be monitored by a real-time monitoring and leak 
detection system, which is considered to be the best available technology; motor 
operated isolation and/or check valves are installed on either side of the Missouri 
River above Lake Sakakawea and Lake Oahe which can be actuated to close as 
soon as a leak is detected; PHMSA-approved [Facility Response Plan] will be in 
place, all weather access and collection points will be staged strategically 
downstream of each lake crossing, and DAPL has committed to additional full scale 
open water and full scale winter/ice exercises that will be conducted at Lake 
Sakakawea and Lake Oahe. A full scale exercise will occur once every 3 years 
(triennial cycle) with the location and type of exercise occurring on alternating 
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 schedules (e.g. open water exercise at Oahe the first triennial cycle, followed by 
winter exercise at Sakakawea the following triennial cycle, followed by a winter 
exercise at Oahe the following triennial cycle, etc.). Stakeholder (federal, state, 
local, and Tribal) involvement will be solicited for each exercise. The first exercise 
will occur within the first 3 years after the pipeline becomes operational. 
 

Id. at 71318.  Other sections of the EA further demonstrate that the Corps considered a number 

of measures that would mitigate against impacts from a release.  See, e.g., EA § 3.2.1.2, ECF No. 

172-1 at 71260-67 (describing mitigation measures in detail); id. at 71341-49 (Table 8-2, 

Summary of Environmental Impact Avoidance and Mitigation Measures).  

These detailed analyses squarely contradict Cheyenne River’s assertion that the Corps 

failed to consider the risks and impacts of an oil spill before granting a Section 408 permission at 

Lake Oahe.  Moreover, the breadth of the mitigation measures demonstrate why it was 

reasonable for the Corps to conclude that the portion of the pipeline that crosses under Lake 

Oahe complies with the standards established in Section 408.  As this Court has recognized, it is 

not enough that a court (or a plaintiff’s expert hired for litigation) might come to a different 

conclusion than the agency.  See, e.g., Oceana, Inc. v. Pritzker, 26 F. Supp. 3d 33, 41 (D.D.C. 

2014) (Boasberg, J.) (“In cases involving expert scientific judgment, courts employ a particularly 

high level of deference.”).  As the agency with expertise in implementing its own statutes, 

regulations, and guidance, as well as in operating and maintaining civil works projects across the 

nation, the Corps is entitled to deference.3   

                                                 

3 Cheyenne River’s claim that “[t]he Corps Omaha District has never before considered the risk 
or impact of an oil pipeline on Lake Oahe because an oil pipeline has never crossed any portion 
of the Missouri Mainstem System,” ECF No. 208 at 8, is simply incorrect.  The Corps conducted 
multiple Section 408 analyses of oil pipeline crossings on the Missouri River upstream of Lake 
Oahe.  See, e.g., BakkenLink Dry Creek to Beaver Lodge Pipeline Project Mitigated FONSI,  
http://cdm16021.contentdm.oclc.org/utils/getdownloaditem/collection/p16021coll7/id/2761/filen
ame/2762.pdf; Sacagawea Pipeline EA Addendum & Mitigated FONSI, available at 
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  The Pipeline Crossing Would Not Impair Lake Oahe Purposes 

Cheyenne River contends that the Corps’ finding that the pipeline crossing at Lake Oahe 

would not impair the purposes of Lake Oahe under Section 408 was arbitrary and capricious for 

two reasons.  See ECF No. 208 at 11-17.  Both arguments fail. 

First, Cheyenne River argues that the Section 408 permission has a “fatal deficiency” 

because “[n]o experts in oil pipelines, oil spill risk, environmental [sic], or in any of the 

authorized purposes made the Section 408 determination.”  Id. at 11.  However, the Corps 

reasonably relied on the professional judgment of its own engineers, see Section 408 Decision 

Package, ECF No. 183-9 at 71180, 71201-02, and the consultants preparing the technical 

documents such as oil spill models and pipeline design specifications.  See, e.g., Crutchfield v. 

County of Hanover, 325 F.2d 211, 223-24 (4th Cir. 2003) (citation omitted) (rejecting argument 

that Corps must independently investigate information submitted by permit applicant); Friends 

of Earth v. Hintz, 800 F.2d 822, 834 (9th Cir. 1986) (citations omitted) (“The Corps’ regulations 

do not require the Corps to undertake an independent investigation or to gather its own 

information upon which to base an EA.”).  And, as noted above, PHMSA is the primary federal 

agency with expertise in oil pipeline safety, and it was reasonable for the Corps to give weight to 

the fact that the Dakota Access pipeline would be constructed and maintained consistent with 

PHMSA regulations.  See, e.g., EA § 3.11, ECF No. 172-1 at 71312-18.  As to Cheyenne River’s 

claim that the Corps failed to hire experts in environmental matters or project purposes, the 

record plainly shows that Corps environmental and natural resource specialists and employees 

who manage the Lake Oahe project reviewed the EA and lent their expertise to the 

                                                 

http://cdm16021.contentdm.oclc.org/utils/getdownloaditem/collection/p16021coll7/id/2672/filen
ame/2673.pdf/mapsto/pdf.  
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 decisionmaking process.  See EA, ECF No. 172-1 at 71350-51 (Table 9-1, List of Preparers and 

Reviewers); Section 408 Decision Package, ECF No. 183-9 at 71180, 71183.  Congress 

delegated authority to the Corps to carry out these functions.  See, e.g., Flood Control Act of 

1944 (“Flood Control Act”), Pub. L. No. 78-534, § 9, 58 Stat. 887, 891 (expanding “general 

comprehensive plan” for flood control and other purposes in the Missouri River Basin and giving 

Corps authority over the resulting works).  Cheyenne River has made no cogent arguments to 

rebut that delegation for lack of expertise.  Thus, the Tribe’s claim has no merit. 

Second, the Tribe argues that allowing a portion of the pipeline to cross under Lake Oahe 

was contrary to the Corps’ alleged obligation to maintain the Missouri River Mainstem Reservoir 

System in a way that prioritizes beneficial consumptive uses.  ECF No. 208 at 11-12.  As an 

initial matter, Cheyenne River’s citation to 33 U.S.C. § 701-1(b) as establishing a prioritization 

requirement, see ECF No. 208 at 11, is inapposite because that section only applies to 

“navigation” uses (not a pipeline).4  The Tribe’s argument also conflates two separate Corps 

authorities.  Under the Flood Control Act, the Corps has authority to operate the Missouri River 

Mainstem Reservoir System, including Lake Oahe, for a number of project purposes such as 

water quality and water supply.5  Section 408, on the other hand, authorizes the Corps to grant 

permission for the alteration, occupation, or use of Corps-managed civil works projects if the 

proposed alteration, occupation, or use will not impair the usefulness of the projects and will not 

be injurious to the public interest.  33 U.S.C. § 408(a).  As is plain from the language of Section 

                                                 

4 33 U.S.C. § 701-1(b) essentially provides that  
5 The Missouri River Basin Mainstem Reservoir System Master Water Control Manual (“Master 
Manual”) cited by Cheyenne River, see ECF No. 208 at 11 (citing ECF No. 131-3 at 135), 
provides guidance to the Corps in carrying out its water management obligations but does not 
address how the Corps should implement Section 408.  See Master Manual § 1-02, ECF No. 131-
3 at I-1.   
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 408, there is no requirement that the proposed alteration, occupation, or use advance or even fall 

within the scope of project purposes in order to get the Corps’ permission.  Id.  The proposed 

alteration, occupation, or use simply must not impair project purposes or injure the public 

interest (a standard that, as discussed in the Corps’ opening brief, ECF No. 183 at 17-22, and in 

the next section, the Corps reasonably concluded was satisfied).  Id.  Thus, Cheyenne River’s 

argument that the Corps improperly gave the Dakota Access pipeline “priority” over beneficial 

consumptive uses is misplaced. 

 The Corps Properly Concluded That the Lake Oahe Crossing 
Was Not Injurious to the Public Interest 

Cheyenne River argues that the Corps “[did] not properly weigh the Project purposes and 

the impact on those purposes.”  ECF No. 208 at 17.  Contrary to Cheyenne River’s suggestion, 

the Corps’ Engineering Circular 1165-2-216 does not specify a formula for how the Corps is to 

conduct its benefit-risk analysis.  Rather, it requires the Corps to evaluate the pertinent benefits 

and “probable impacts” of the proposed alteration.  See Engineering Circular 1165-2-216 ¶ 

7.c.(4)(b)ii, ECF No. 73-15 at 14.  As the Corps explained in its Response to Cheyenne River’s 

motion and cross-motion for partial summary judgment, the Corps has plainly evaluated not just 

the benefits, but also the potential impacts—which the Corps reasonably found were not 

“probable” in light of the various mitigation measures—of the Lake Oahe HDD crossing.  See, 

e.g., ECF No. 183 at 9-10, 20-22.  

Finally, Cheyenne River argues that the Corps failed to consider the impacts to its water 

supply.  ECF No. 208 at 18-19.  The Tribe specifically takes issue with the fact that the EA 

focused on potential impacts to the Standing Rock Sioux Tribe’s water intakes.  Id.  Given that 

Standing Rock’s (and private) water intakes are closer to the Lake Oahe crossing than Cheyenne 

River’s water intakes, it was reasonable for the Corps to evaluate potential impacts on Standing 
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 Rock’s water supply and extrapolate its analysis to water users further downstream like 

Cheyenne River.6  See EA, ECF No. 172-1 at 71262, 71310-11.  Cheyenne River’s water intakes 

are more than 70 miles from the Dakota Access pipeline crossing under Lake Oahe, see ECF No. 

127-3 at Ex. 1, allowing even more time to respond to a release than for the Standing Rock water 

intakes evaluated in the EA.   

In sum, the Corps fully complied with Section 408 and its own guidance in granting 

Dakota Access permission to construct a portion of the pipeline beneath Lake Oahe.  

B. The Corps Complied with the Mineral Leasing Act 

The Corps’ decision to grant the easement under Lake Oahe was well-supported and 

complied with every requirement of the MLA.  Cheyenne River has failed to carry its burden to 

identify any violation of the MLA.  Instead, Cheyenne River ignores the clear evidence in the 

administrative record demonstrating the Corps’ compliance with the MLA.    

 The Corps Analyzed All of the Factors Required by the MLA 

In its Response, the Tribe states “the Corps now argues that it does not have to make 

reasoned decisions on the 12 requirements under the MLA . . . .”  ECF No. 208 at 21 (listing 11 

subsections of the MLA).  The Corps did not make any such argument, and the administrative 

record is clear that the Corps documented its decisionmaking with regard to every single MLA 

                                                 

6 Cheyenne River points to 2005 documents concerning the expense of alternative water supply 
options for a particular drought event under an entirely unrelated authority, but does not assert 
that the Tribe brought this information to the Corps’ attention for consideration during the 
comment period on the draft EA or Section 408 analysis.  ECF No. 208 at 18-19.  Nor did the 
Tribe move to supplement the administrative record with this information in the months since the 
Corps produced the record on November 10, 2016.  Regardless, the Corps’ conclusion that the 
Lake Oahe crossing was not likely to impact the Standing Rock water intakes can reasonably be 
extrapolated to mean that downstream users like Cheyenne River are similarly unlikely to suffer 
any impacts. 
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 requirement, including those listed by the Tribe.  The decision memorandum for the Lake Oahe 

easement identifies the “Specific Statutory Findings” required by the MLA and addresses each 

one.  Technical and Legal Review and Recommendation, ECF No. 172-9 at ESMT 315-18.7  

Each of the findings in the decision memo also references supporting material from the 

administrative record that formed the basis for the finding.  Id. at ESMT 315-18.  Plaintiffs have 

not identified any reason that the Corps’ NEPA analysis or the other material in the 

administrative record do not support the determinations made under the MLA, and can cite no 

authority that the Corps’ reliance on those analyses violated the law in any way.    

 The Corps Complied with 30 U.S.C. § 185(h)(2). 

The Lake Oahe easement contains all the stipulations required to comply with MLA § 

185(h)(2).  The Tribe argues that the Corps failed to comply with Section 185(h)(2) because 

“[n]othing in the EA addresses protecting the interests of persons ‘who rely upon the fish, 

wildlife and biotic resources of the area for subsistence’” and does not address the impacts of an 

                                                 

7 The following table identifies the Corps’ decision memo paragraphs making the necessary 
findings for each of the MLA requirements identified in the Tribe’s Response (ECF No. 208 at 
21): 

MLA requirement identified by Tribe Decision memo finding 
30 U.S.C. § 185(d) ESMT 315 ¶ 6.b 
30 U.S.C. § 185(g) ESMT 316 ¶ 6.c. 
30 U.S.C. § 185(h)(2) ESMT 316 ¶ 6.d 
30 U.S.C. § 185(i) ESMT 316 ¶ 6.e 
30 U.S.C. § 185(j) ESMT 316 ¶ 6.f 
30 U.S.C. § 185(l) ESMT 316 ¶ 6.h 
30 U.S.C. § 185(n) ESMT 316 ¶ 6.h 
30 U.S.C. § 185(p) ESMT 316-17 ¶ ¶6.h; 6.k 
30 U.S.C. § 185(v) ESMT 317 ¶ 6.j 
30 U.S.C. § 185(x) ESMT 316 ¶ 6.h 
30 U.S.C. § 185(w)(2) ESMT 318 ¶ 7 
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 oil spill on vegetation, recreation, or land-based wildlife.  ECF No. 208 at 21.  Instead, the EA 

explicitly addresses all of these impacts.  The EA recognized that “in the unlikely event of an 

unanticipated release during operations of the pipeline, the effects would be remediated 

following the cleanup procedures and remediation activities in Section 3.11.”8  EA, ECF No. 

172-1 at 71326.  As a result, the potential impacts on “vegetation, agriculture, and range 

resources would be minor.”  Id.  Similarly, with regard to recreation, the Corps reiterated that a 

spill is highly unlikely, but any spill would be remediated, and there would be only minimal 

impacts to recreation resources.  Id. at 71329.  Finally, with regard to land-based wildlife, the EA 

addresses potential impacts of a spill on a number of species.  See Id. at 71288 (effects of spill on 

Whooping Cranes); Id. at 71289 (effects of spill on Piping Plover); Id. at 71288 (noting that 

black footed ferrets and gray wolves are not likely to be found in vicinity, and therefore not 

likely to be affected).  Contrary to the Tribe’s unsupported assertion, the Corps analyzed effects 

of a spill on each category of resources identified by the Tribe.  In addition, the Corps included 

22 specific easement conditions relating to the construction, operation, and maintenance of the 

pipeline to ensure that 1) the risk of a spill is minimized, and that 2) impacts from a spill are 

minimized.  ECF No. 172-9 at ESMT 353-358 (listing special conditions).  These are the 

conditions contemplated by the MLA to protect the interests of individuals living in the general 

area who rely on fish, wildlife, and biotic resources for subsistence purposes.   

The Tribe also argues that the Corps violated the MLA because the easement conditions 

“will [not] allow Dakota Access or the Corps to clean all oil from Lake Oahe before” resources 

are impacted.  ECF No. 208 at 22.  The Tribe chides the Corps for failing to identify “a single 

                                                 

8 Section 3.11 of the EA explains in detail the spill prevention and response measures 
incorporated into the pipeline.  AR71312-18. 
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 instance in the history of oil spills...in which cleanup was accomplished before an impact on 

resources.”  Id.  The MLA does not require the Corps to ensure that there will never be any 

impact from a spill, but requires the Corps to include “requirements to protect the interests of 

individuals living in the general area of the right–of-way” who rely on fish, wildlife and aquatic 

resources for subsistence purposes.  30 U.S.C. § 185(h)(2).  The twenty-two easement conditions 

in the Oahe easement do exactly that:  they protect the interests of people living in the area by 

ensuring that the pipeline construction meets stringent standards for safety and durability, and by 

ensuring that there are detailed plans in place in the event of a spill to minimize any spill and to 

remediate the effects of a spill should one occur.  In short, the Oahe easement fully complied 

with the MLA and the Tribe has failed to carry its burden to show that the easement violated the 

APA.     

Finally, the Tribe also makes an entirely new argument in its reply brief that “nothing in 

the MLA easement record explains the decision to limit strict liability to $10 million” or how 

that liability limit complies with 30 U.S.C. § 185(x)(6).9  ECF No. 208 at 22.  This is a wholly 

new argument that was not raised in the Tribe’s original motion, and should be rejected for that 

reason alone.  As the D.C. Circuit has consistently held, the Court should not address arguments 

raised for the first time in a party's reply.  Ashraf-Hassan v. Embassy of France in U.S., 878 F. 

Supp. 2d 164, 173 (D.D.C. 2012) (“As the D.C. Circuit has consistently held, the Court should 

not address arguments raised for the first time in a party's reply.”) (citing Am. Wildlands v. 

Kempthorne, 530 F.3d 991, 1001 (D.C. Cir. 2008).  Even if the Court were to address it, 

however, the Tribe’s argument would fail.  First, the MLA does not require that the Corps 

                                                 

9 The Tribe previously argued that the Corps was required to “impose strict liability” under 30 
U.S.C. § 185(x).  Intervenor-Pl.’s Partial Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 131 at 35-36. 
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 include any stipulation for strict liability.  30 U.S.C. § 185(x)(2) (“the Secretary . . . may . . . 

impose a standard of strict liability . . . [on actions that] present a foreseeable hazard or risk of 

danger to the United States.”) (emphasis added).  In the event a strict liability provision is 

included, it must include a maximum limit on damages “commensurate with the foreseeable risks 

or hazards presented.”  30 U.S.C. § 185(x)(4).  The Tribe claims that “$10 million will not begin 

to cover the cost of a cleanup.”  ECF 208 at 22.  The very document cited by the Tribe 

completely undermines the Tribe’s claim, however.  The PHMSA report on pipeline incidents 

and costs demonstrates that in 2015 there were 77 “significant” crude oil pipeline incidents 

resulting in 20,005 barrels of oil spilled.  AR ESMT 1257.  According to PHMSA, the total cost 

of those incidents was $194,564,582, which works out to just over $2.5 million per incident.  Id.  

In 2014, there were 74 “significant” incidents resulting in 16,666 barrels spilled.  Id.  Total costs 

that year were just over $55 million, or $746,129 per incident.  Id.  Moreover, the easement 

clearly states that liability in excess of $10 million dollars “shall be in accord with ordinary rules 

of negligence.”  ECF No. 172-9 at ESMT 323.  So, the liability for a spill is not limited to $10 

million.  The Tribe has not provided any support for its assertion that $10 million dollars is 

somehow insufficient to cover the foreseeable risks, and that the liability provision in the Oahe 

easement somehow violates the MLA.  Its motion on these issues should be denied.     

C. The Corps Did Not Violate Specific Trust Responsibilities Identified 
by Statute, Regulation, or Treaty   

The law is clear that the United States assumes trust responsibilities only explicitly 

through positive law such as a statute, regulation, or treaty.  Cheyenne River acknowledges this 

binding law in its Response, ECF No. 208 at 26 (citing United States v. Jicarilla, 564 U.S. 162 

(2011), for the proposition that “the Government assumes Indian trust responsibilities only to the 

extent it expressly accepts those responsibilities by statute.”).  But nonetheless the Tribe fails to 
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 identify a specific statutory provision that provides a fiduciary duty relevant to this case and also 

fails to show how any such specific fiduciary duty was violated.  Therefore, the Tribe’s claim for 

breach of trust cannot succeed.  

 Cheyenne River Has Not Identified Any Applicable Trust Duty 

The Tribe has identified no law establishing a fiduciary duty governing the Corps’ 

management of the Lake Oahe Project or the Missouri River.  The Lake Oahe Project is managed 

by the Corps for multiple uses, see ECF No. 183 at 5, and is not held in trust for the sole benefit 

of the Tribe.  That the Tribe has a Winters right to use water from the Missouri River does not 

automatically transform the entire waterbody into a trust asset.  The Tribe has identified no case 

that so holds, and to do so here would dramatically expand the Winters doctrine far beyond its 

original confines.  The Tribe has not identified a specific trust duty that arises from the Tribe’s 

Winters rights or the Corps’ management of Lake Oahe or the Missouri River, and so any claim 

for breach of trust on this basis fails. 

The Tribe cites to 25 C.F.R. § 1000.352 to argue that the Missouri River is held in trust 

for the Tribe.  But the regulation is entirely inapplicable to this situation.  It is titled “What are 

‘trust resources’ for the purposes of the trust evaluation process?” 25 C.F.R. § 1000.352 

(emphasis added).  The “trust evaluation process” occurs under the Indian Self-Government 

Act10 (which is not at issue here) and is “an annual review and evaluation of trust functions 

performed by a Tribe . . . .”  25 C.F.R. § 1000.354.  This regulation does not govern whether the 

Missouri River is held in trust for the Tribe and it does not create binding fiduciary duties.   

                                                 

10 The Indian Self-Government Act allows, inter alia, a Tribe to enter into contracts to provide 
services the Federal Government would normally provide.  See generally Menominee Indian 
Tribe of Wis. v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 750, 753 (2016).   
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 The law that governs how the United States takes property into trust for the benefit of a 

Tribe states “[t]he Secretary of the Interior is authorized, in his discretion, to acquire. . . any 

interest in lands, [or] water rights . . . . [R]ights acquired pursuant to this Act . . . shall be taken in 

the name of the United States in trust for the Indian tribe or individual Indian for which the land 

is acquired . . . .” 25 U.S.C. § 5108.  Cheyenne River has provided no evidence that Lake Oahe, 

the Missouri River, or water rights therefrom, were acquired and held in trust by the United 

States for the Tribe pursuant to this law.11   

As the Corps’ opening brief explains, ECF No. 183 at 31, a Winters right is a unique 

usufructuary right that is implicated when an upstream user diverts water such that the Tribe 

cannot grow food or otherwise sustain its reservation.  See Arizona v. California, 373 U.S. 546, 

600 (1963).  That circumstance is simply not present here.  But even if it were, what the Tribe is 

arguing is required under Winters is much broader than what any Court has found the doctrine to 

sustain.  The Tribe is arguing that as a result of the Tribe’s Winters-based water rights, the Corps 

must act in a fiduciary capacity as a trustee to the Tribe.  No case has held that Winters-based 

water rights alone create such a relationship. Such a decision would be inconsistent with 

precedent establishing a trust responsibility can only arise from a statute, regulation, or treaty.  

United States v. Jicarilla Apache Nation, 564 U.S. 162, 177 (2011) (“The Government assumes 

Indian trust responsibilities only to the extent it expressly accepts those responsibilities by 

statute.); Cf. El Paso Nat. Gas Co. v. United States, 750 F.3d 863, 895 (D.C. Cir. 2014). 

                                                 

11 The Tribe’s reference to an EA for a separate project—the modification of a dam as part of the 
Lower Yellowstone Project—is unavailing.  First, this is not in any way a source of substantive 
law that could create a trust duty.  But even on its own terms, this EA lists water rights as 
“Possible Trust Assets,” ECF No. 208-1 at H-1.  Further, the EA lists Tribes other than 
Cheyenne River as those that have quantified their Winters-based water rights such that they may 
be a trust asset.  Id. at H-10.   
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  The Cheyenne River Taking Act Does Not Create a Fiduciary 
Duty, but, Regardless, There Has Been No Breach 

The text of the Cheyenne River Taking Act makes clear that it creates no trust duty.   The 

Tribe describes the history behind this law extensively, and references legislative history that 

discusses the general trust relationship between the United States and Tribes. ECF No. 208 at 26-

30.  But the text of the law does not create a trust relationship or otherwise set forth a specific 

rights creating trust duty and therefore any claim based on an alleged trust duty in this law fails.     

In relevant portion, the Takings Act provides: 

After the Oahe Dam gates are closed and the waters of the Missouri River 
impounded, the said Indian Tribe and the members thereof shall have the right to 
graze stock on the land between the level of the reservoir and the taking line. . . 
.The said Tribal Council and the members of said Indian Tribe shall have, without 
cost, the right of free access to the shoreline of the reservoir including the right to 
hunt and fish in and on the aforesaid shoreline and reservoir, subject, however, to 
regulations governing the corresponding use by other citizens of the United States. 
 

ch. 1260, 68 Stat. 1191-1216 (1954).  This provision means what it says: Tribal members have 

the right to graze, hunt, and fish.  The provision does not say that the United States has assumed 

a duty to manage Lake Oahe in order to maximize fishing, grazing, or hunting uses or to “protect 

[hunting, fishing, and grazing] rights in the management of [Lake Oahe].”  ECF No. 208 at 32; 

see also id. (Tribe argues the Act “does not merely confirm a right, but contains the Corps’ 

express assumption of a duty to protect those rights in its management of Lake Oahe….”).     

Despite the Tribe’s statements to the contrary, the text contains no express assumption of a duty 

of protection and no statements about creating a trust duty at all.  The Tribe seems to concede 

this point by next arguing “[i]t is not significant that the trust duty is not spelled out in the 

statute…”  ECF No. 208 at 32-33.  The law, however, leaves no doubt that it is significant—and 

indeed, required—that any trust duty arises explicitly from a statute, treaty, or other positive law.   

The Tribe recognizes this law elsewhere in its brief.  See ECF No. 208 at 26 (citing Jicarilla, 564 
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 U.S. 162).12  The Takings Act simply does not contain an express assumption of a duty or 

creation of a trust relationship.  See El Paso Nat. Gas Co., 750 F.3d at 896. 

The Tribe argues that a duty in the Takings Act should be inferred based on the cannon of 

construction that ambiguities should be construed liberally in favor of Indians.  ECF No. 208 at 

33.  However, this canon of interpretation “does not permit [courts to rely] on ambiguities that do 

not exist[.]”  South Carolina v. Catawba Indian Tribe, Inc., 476 U.S. 498, 506 (1986); Maniilaq 

Ass'n v. Burwell, 170 F. Supp. 3d 243, 248 (D.D.C. 2016).  Here there is simply no ambiguity 

about what the Takings Act provides: a right to the Tribe to hunt, fish, and graze, but no duty on 

the Corps to limit public or private infrastructure projects that may theoretically interfere with 

such rights. 

Finally, even if there were a duty to protect the Tribe’s right to hunt and fish, the Tribe 

has not demonstrated the Corps has breached this duty.  The Corps has provided by regulation 

that hunting, trapping, and fishing are generally permitted (subject to reasonable restrictions, e.g., 

excluding fishing from areas designated for swimming).  See 36 C.F.R. § 327.8.  And as 

explained above, the Corps does not expect the crossing to impact these rights and has taken 

steps to ensure that the crossing will not endanger the uses of the Oahe Project.  The Tribe’s 

arguments that the Corps violated a trust duty in granting the easement are merely reiterations of 

its arguments that the Corps did not prepare the EA itself and was required to consider oil spill 

                                                 

12 In a footnote the Tribe “incorporates by reference” the Amicus brief of the National Congress 
of American Indians, ECF No. 134.  ECF No. 208 at 31 n.10.  This amicus brief erroneously 
relies on cases such as Cobell v. Norton, 240 F.3d 1081, 1086 (D.C. Cir. 2001) that are no longer 
good law for the propositions cited.  For instance, the brief argues that that trust duties can be 
implied and are defined by common law equitable principles rather than by statute.  Id. at 4-5.  
This has been expressly rejected by the Supreme Court and this Circuit.  See El Paso Nat. Gas 
Co., 750 F.3d at 896.  The amicus brief never attempts to reconcile this outdated view of the law 
with the current law of this Circuit and is thus unpersuasive.   
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 risk and impact in greater detail in the EA.  ECF No. 208 at 36-38.  The Corps has addressed the 

EA in its Opposition to Standing Rock’s Motion for Partial Summary judgment and hereby 

incorporates that response.  See ECF No. 172.  However, to the extent the Tribe is arguing that 

there is an independent duty outside of NEPA that requires such analysis, the Tribe has not 

identified the source of such a duty.  Because the Tribe fails to identify a specific statutory 

provision that provides a relevant fiduciary duty and to show its breach, the Tribe’s claim for 

breach of trust is unavailing.  

D. The Corps Satisfied All Substantive Duties to Consult 

Cheyenne River alleges that the Corps breached a trust duty by failing to consult in the 

manner the Tribe argues is required.  The Tribe asserts that the Corps “only made efforts to 

consult on NHPA section 106 cultural resources” and “only requested comments from the Tribes 

on the EA,” ECF No. 208 at 45, which evidently equates to a failure to satisfy the Corps’ 

consultation requirements.  However, the Corps’ only duties to consult arise under the NHPA.  

NEPA has no specific substantive consultation requirement—and under NEPA the Corps need 

only engage with the public “to the extent practicable[.]”  40 C.F.R. § 1501.4(b).  The Tribe has 

identified no other source of law that explicitly contains a duty to consult.  In any event, the 

record reveals that extensive consultation transpired.  Indeed, Cheyenne River does not dispute 

that NHPA consultation occurred.  ECF No. 208 at 40, 45.  And Cheyenne River’s argument that 

the NEPA process and NHPA consultation must be separate events is unavailing. 

 The Corps Complied with Applicable NEPA Public 
Participation Requirements 

Cheyenne River alleges that the Corps violated the NEPA consultation requirements of 

40 C.F.R. § 1501.2(d)(2) and § 1503.1.  However, § 1503.1 does not apply.  Section 1503.1 

requires agencies to solicit comments in preparation of an EIS—not an EA.  Id.  Even if § 1503.1 
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 did apply, the Corps complied with its requirements by soliciting NEPA comments from 

Cheyenne River.  See, Letter from J. Price to S. Vance, ECF No. 183-17; Letter from J. 

Henderson to Chairman Frazier, ECF No. 183-21; February 2016 Meeting, ECF No. 183-26.  

This fact is acknowledged by the Tribe.  ECF No. 208 at 40 (noting that the Corps “only” 

requested comments from the Tribes).   

Similarly, the Corps also complied with 40 C.F.R § 1501.2(d)(2).  § 1501.2(d)(2) requires 

that agencies consult “early” in the NEPA process—which the Corps did.  Courts have 

interpreted “early” to mean at a point in time early enough to ensure that planning and decisions 

reflect environmental values.  Idaho Sporting Congress, Inc. v. Alexander, 222 F.3d 562, 567-

568 (9th Cir. 2000).  The record and EA clearly reflect “early” involvement of the Tribe and 

consideration of environmental values in the Corps’ process.  This process began by first 

reaching out to the Tribes, continued with receiving comments on the draft EA, and culminated 

in the final EA that included multiple layers of environmental considerations.  

The applicable regulation is actually 40 C.F.R. § 1501.4(b), which provides that the 

Corps need only involve stakeholders “to the extent practicable . . . .”  See Theodore Roosevelt 

Conservation P'ship v. Salazar, 605 F. Supp. 2d 263, 279 (D.D.C. 2009), aff'd, 616 F.3d 497 

(D.C. Cir. 2010).  The record reveals the Corps more than complied with this requirement. 

The record shows that Cheyenne River’s NEPA comments, received before the NEPA 

review was completed, were addressed within the EA, which contravenes the Tribe’s statement 

that the Corps did not consider the Tribe’s comments. 13   The Corps went above and beyond 

                                                 

13 Separate comments submitted by Cheyenne River to the Army in January 2017, ECF No. 208 
at 43, were received six months after the EA was complete, and therefore could not have been 
reviewed or considered in the EA.  
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 what was required—in addition to addressing the Tribe’s written comments, the Corps met with 

Cheyenne River to address its specific concerns.  Cheyenne River provided comments on the 

EA’s sufficiency, ECF Nos. 183-14 (Aug. 17, 2015 Letter); 183-19 (May 19, 2016 Letter); 183-

20 (June 3, 2016 Letter), spill risk, ECF No. 183-19 (May 19, 2016 Letter), water quality, ECF 

No. 183-14 (Aug. 17, 2015 Letter), pipeline safety, ECF No. 183-26 (February 2016 Meeting) 

and tribal consultation, ECF No. 183-20 (June 3, 2016 Letter).  These topics were all directly 

addressed in the final EA.  See ECF No. 172-1 at 71311 (spill risk), 71270 (water quality), 

71312-15 (pipeline safety), 71303-04 (tribal consultation).  Thus, Cheyenne River’s implicit 

argument that the Corps did nothing more than accept comments from the Tribe fails.  The facts 

of these consultation efforts have been comprehensively and thoroughly described in the multiple 

filings of this litigation.  Cheyenne River cannot show the Corps violated any required provision 

to involve the Tribe in decisionmaking.  

 The Corps Was Not Required to Hold Separate NHPA and 
NEPA Consultations 

Cheyenne River’s argument that consultation under the NHPA and the NEPA process 

should be separate and distinct is unavailing.  See ECF No. 208 at 40, 42.  NHPA regulations 

state that agency officials should coordinate consultations with “other requirements of other 

statutes, as applicable, such as [NEPA] . . . .”  36 C.F.R. § 800.2(a)(4).  Agencies are encouraged 

to coordinate NHPA section 106 compliance with their NEPA requirements.  36 C.F.R. § 800.8.  

In fact, agencies are encouraged to “plan their public participation, analysis, and review, in such 

a way that they can meet the purposes and requirements of both statutes in a timely and efficient 

manner.”  Id.  Put differently, NHPA and NEPA review should be closely integrated together.  

Apache Survival Coal. v. United States, 21 F.3d 895, 906 (9th Cir. 1994) (citing Sierra Club v. 

Clark, 774 F.2d 1406, 1410 (9th Cir. 1985).  While it is true that NHPA and NEPA require 
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 distinct considerations—cultural versus environmental—the record and EA are replete with 

consultations that satisfy both statutes.  See Letter from J. Price to S. Vance, ECF No. 183-17; 

Letter from M. Chieply to S. Vance, ECF No. 183-24; February 2016 Meeting, ECF No. 183-26.  

Thus, Cheyenne River’s argument that the NHPA and NEPA processes should not occur during 

the same communications fails.  

 No Other Alleged Duty to Consult Applies  

The Tribe has identified no legal consultation requirement aside from that contained in 

the NHPA, and there are none that apply here.  Cheyenne River names other alleged sources of a 

duty to consult: Department of Defense Instruction 4710.02, an “announced” consultation policy 

and a general duty to consult on trust resources.  ECF No. 208 at 39.  These bases are simply re-

hashed arguments from the Tribe’s initial filing and provide no additional information to rebut—

or even acknowledge—the Corps’ position that the alleged sources impose no additional 

consultation requirements.  Indeed, Cheyenne River has not provided any evidence to rebut the 

presumption that Department of Defense Instruction is a non-binding guidance document.  See 

ECF No. 183 at 46.  Similarly the Tribe provides no authority specific to the Corps for the 

proposition that its internal policy binds the agency.  And to the extent that the Corps’ tribal 

consultation policy imposes any sort of consultation duty, the Corps complied.14  See ECF No. 

183 at 48.  

                                                 

14 Cheyenne River also references Executive Order 13175 in its response.  ECF No. 208 at 39.  
Not only is this order non-binding, it is not applicable to the Corps’ actions in connection with 
the Dakota Access Pipeline project.  Executive Order 13175 requires agencies to consult with 
Tribes in the development of Federal “policies that have tribal implications,” which is defined as 
“regulations, legislative comments or proposed legislation, and other policy statements or actions 
that have substantial direct effects on one or more Indian tribes, on the relationship between the 
Federal Government and Indian tribes, or on the distribution of power and responsibilities 
between the Federal Government and Indian tribes.”  Exec. Order No. 13175, 65 Fed. Reg. 

Case 1:16-cv-01534-JEB   Document 214   Filed 04/20/17   Page 22 of 25



 

21 
 

 Finally, Cheyenne River expends considerable energy arguing the Corps was required to 

consult with the Tribe regarding trust resources.  ECF No. 208 at 41.  However, the Tribe cannot 

overcome its failure to identify any applicable trust resources or any law requiring consultation 

on such trust resources.  Absent any explicit duty created in treaty, statute, or regulation, the 

Corps has no duty to consult with the Tribe on any alleged treaty right or trust resource.  See El 

Paso Nat. Gas Co., 750 F.3d at 895.  As discussed above, Cheyenne River cannot point to any 

specific treaty, statute, or regulation that imposes a duty on the Corps to consult with the Tribe 

on hunting, fishing, or water resources.  See supra Section II.C.2; see also ECF No. 183 at 37.  

Accordingly, like the other bases discussed above, the Corps had no specific duty to consult with 

regard to the Cheyenne River’s trust resources.  Regardless, as discussed in prior briefing, the 

Corps engaged with the Tribe in a multi-year process.  This goes well beyond what was legally 

required, and more than satisfies any duty to consult. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant the Corps’ Cross-Motion for Partial 

Summary Judgment.  

  

Dated: April 20, 2017    Respectfully submitted,     
 

JEFFREY H. WOOD 
Acting Assistant Attorney General 
Environment & Natural Resources Division 

                       .               
By: /s/  Reuben S. Schifman                       .           

REUBEN S. SCHIFMAN, NY Bar 
MATTHEW MARINELLI, IL Bar 6277967 

                                                 

67249 (Nov. 6 2000).  The Corps did not formulate a new policy with tribal implications in this 
case. In addition, the Executive Order does not prescribe consultation procedure or protocol for a 
particular project, like Dakota Access. 
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